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EMLIOM GARZA, Crcuit Judge:

Mannesmann I nternational Alloys, Inc. (MA), Mdco Pipe &
Tube, Inc. (Mdco), and Richard A Brazzal e--fornmer vice-
presi dent of sales at M A--appeal their convictions for violating
section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U S.C. 8 1, and for aiding and
abetting, 18 U.S.C. 8 2, by conspiring to fix the prices of
specialty pipe sold through Texas Pi pe Bendi ng Conpany (TPB)
Specifically, these defendants assert that the district court
erred in instructing the jury and abused its discretion in

ordering restitution. Finding no error, we affirm



I

This case involves an all eged conspiracy between six
corporations! and three individuals?2 to fix the prices of
specialty pipe sold to TPB for purchase by TPB' s custoners under
a cost-plus contractual arrangenent--a violation of section 1 of
t he Sherman Act® and the aiding and abetting statute.*
Specifically, the indictnent alleges that TPB and its
distributors conspired to elimnate conpetition on specialty pipe

bids submtted to TPB for its cost-plus contracts.?®

. They are
Inc. (Capitol), (3
I ndustries, Inc. (

(1) TPB; (2) Capitol Pipe and Steel Products,
) US Mtals, Inc. (US Mtals), (4) Al Star
Al Star), (5 MA, and (6) Mdco.

2 They are (1) Carlton H Bartula, (2) R chard A
Brazzal e, and (3) Ronald S. Pal ma.

3 15 U S.C § 1.
4 18 U.S.C. § 2.

5 Specialty pipe is used in oil refineries and power
plants to transport materials when carbon steel pipe is
i neffective--for exanple, when the materials are corrosive or of
extrenely high or low tenperatures. This specialty pipe often
needs to be bent into shape and welded to fit the configurations
of a particular project--an endeavor that is generally done nore
economcally at a pipe fabricator's shop than at a job site.

When the precise quantities of each size and grade of pipe are
unknown at the tinme of contract, contracts with fabricators for
specialty pipe generally call for the fabricators to purchase
pi pe fromdistributors on a cost-plus basis. In this situations,
specialty pipe purchasers pay fabricators (1) the invoice price
of the pipe plus (2) a bargai ned-upon percentage of that price as
the fabricator's markup.

Because prices for specialty pipe are volatile and it is
difficult for specialty pipe purchasers to predict their needs,
purchasers expect this cost-plus arrangenent to bring about a
| ower overall cost than the alternative--paying a pipe fabricator
a fixed price which would include a contingency for assum ng the
mar ket risk. Specialty pipe purchasers generally believe that
the fixed-price nethod would inflate bids to the point of making
the present specialty pipe market system-that is, reliance on
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A

At trial, twelve alleged co-conspirators--including a forner
M A sal es manager, a forner M A executive vice-president, and two
former M dco vice-presidents--described the conspiracy and their
participation in it. According to these w tnesses, when TPB was
awarded a fabrication job on a cost-plus basis, Bartula--TPB's
head purchasi ng agent--deci ded which distributors should submt
bids. These distributors included Al Star, Mdco, MA, Capitol,
Guyon, and U S. Metals. Bartula or another TPB enpl oyee woul d
then ask Pal ma® to "quarterback"” the job--that is, to act as a
go- bet ween anong the distributors and TPB by di scussing the
prospective bids, allocating various material anong the bidders,
and working with the bidders to decide the prices each would
submt to TPB.

Specifically, Bartula or Pal ma would call selected bidders
to informthemthat (1) they would be receiving a request for a
quotation on a cost-plus job, (2) Pal ma woul d quarterback the
job, and (3) the job was to be handled on a "code 5", "10", or

"15" basis--neaning that the job was to be rigged and TPB woul d

i ndependent pi pe fabricators who do the work off site--
uneconom cal. To assure that they receive conpetitive prices,
purchasers generally require pipe fabricators to solicit and
submt conpetitive bids fromthree or nore distributors.

Bet ween 1981 and 1984, there were only 5-7 of these
specialty pipe distributors in the market. However, fabricators
such as TPB sonetines carried their own specialty pipe inventory
and were able to bid against the pipe distributors. See infra
note 15 and acconpanyi ng text.

6 Pal ma worked for Capitol in 1981 and 1982, and then for
his own conpany--All Star--in 1983 and 1984.
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receive either a five, ten, or fifteen percent kickback. The
distributors then padded their bids accordingly, adding this
five-to-fifteen percent onto their bids and rebating the noney to
TPB in the formof a "credit nmenp" or check. TPB and its

di stributors sonetines referred to this schene as TPB' s "vol une
di scount program"”

As quarterback, Palm would discuss the bidders' preferences
and agree on an allocation anong them of the materials needed.
The bi dders who were designated wi nners would then determ ne
their prices. |In addition to the five-to-fifteen percent added
to the bid price for TPB' s ki ckback, these bid prices included
hi gher than normal markups resulting in prices generally 20
percent--and as nuch as 75 percent--higher than conpetitive
prices. Palma would then pass these inflated prices onto the
ot her bidders who woul d protect them by bidding higher. Wrk was
usual |y awarded according to the allocation agreed upon by the
di stri butors.

B

TPB, Capitol, and U S. Mtals entered into plea agreenents.
Al Star, MA Mdco, Bartula, Brazzale, and Palm went to trial
and were convicted by a jury on March 19, 1990. Judgnents of
conviction were entered on May 20, 1991: The district court
fined each of the corporate defendants $250,000 and, as a
condition of probation, ordered themjointly and severally liable
for restitution in the amount of $859,935; Bartula was sentenced

to three years inprisonnent, with all but the first six nonths
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suspended; Brazzal e and Pal ma received suspended sentences and
were placed on probation for five years. MA, Mdco, and
Brazzal e appeal their convictions.

|1

Def endants chal l enge both the district court's (A jury

instruction and (B) its award of restitution. Defendants' jury
instruction challenge fractures into assertions that the district
court erred in:

(1) instructing the jury under the per se rule
anal ysi s,

(2) refusing to instruct the jury on "rule of reason”
anal ysi s, and

(3) refusing to instruct the jury on the theories of
defense (that is, good faith and | ack of specific
i ntent).
As for its award of restitution, MA asserts that the district
court abused its discretion by:

(1) ordering restitution for injuries outside the
limtations period,

(2) failing to credit MA for paynents nmade to settle
related civil clains, and

(3) making restitution joint and several.
A
1-2
Section 1 of the Sherman Act provides in part that "[e]very
contract, conbination in the formof trust or otherw se, or
conspiracy, in restraint of trade or comrerce anong the severa
States, or with foreign nations, is declared to be

illegal . . . ." 15 U S C 8§ 1. Despite the scope of its
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literal neaning, the Suprenme Court has al ways recogni zed t hat
section 1 was "intended to prohibit only unreasonable restraints
of trade." Business Electronics v. Sharp Electronics, 485 U S.
717, 723, 108 S. Ct. 1515, 1519 (1988) (enphasis added).
Therefore, "[o]rdinarily, whether [a] particular concerted action
violates 8 1 of the Sherman Act is determ ned through case-by-
case application of the so-called rule of reason--that is, "the
factfinder weighs all of the circunstances of a case in deciding
whet her a restrictive practice should be prohibited as inposing
an unreasonable restraint on conpetition.'" 1d. (citation
omtted).

However, the Court has also introduced a shortcut around
case-by-case rule of reason analysis: the Court has found
certain agreenents to be so egregiously anticonpetitive "that
they are conclusively presuned illegal w thout further
exam nation under the rule of reason generally applied in Sherman
Act cases." Broadcast Music, Inc., v. Colunbia Broadcasting
System Inc., 441 U.S. 1, 7-8, 99 S. . 1551, 1556 (1979); see
al so Business Electronics, 485 U S. at 723-24, 108 S. C. at 1519
("Certain categories of agreenents, however, have been held to be
per se illegal, dispensing wwth the need for case-by-case

evaluation.").” "[A]greenents anong conpetitors to fix prices on

! The policy undergirding this per se unreasonabl eness
approach is to avoid "the necessity for an incredibly conplicated
and prol onged econom c investigation into the entire history of
the industry involved, as well as related industries, in an
effort to determne at |arge whether a particular restraint has
been unreasonable--an inquiry so often wholly fruitless when
undertaken." Broadcast Music, 441 U.S. at 8, n.11, 99 S. C. at
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their individual goods or services are anong those concerted
activities that the Court has held to be within the per se
category." Broadcast Music, 441 U.S. at 8, 99 S. . at 1556.8
The district court found the price fixing arrangenent between TPB

and its distributors to be such an agreenent and instructed the

1556 n. 11, quoting Northern Pac. Ry. Co. v. United States, 356
Uus 1, 5, 78 S. . 514, 518 (1958) (citations omtted). The
standard test for determning application of this per se rule is
whet her the business practice "facially appears to be one that
woul d al ways or al nost always tend to restrict conpetition and
decrease output. . . ." I1d. at 19-20, 99 S. . at 1562, citing
United States v. Gypsum Co., 438 U. S. 422, 436 n.13, 441 n. 16, 98
S. . 2864, 2873 n.13, 2875 n.16 (1978).

8 ld. at 9, 99 S. . at 1557 ("As generally used in the
antitrust field, “price fixing'" is a shorthand way of describing
certain categories of business behavior to which the per se rule
has been held applicable."); see Catalano, Inc. v. Target Sales,
Inc., 446 U.S. 643, 647, 100 S. C. 1925, 1927-28 (1980) (price
fixing agreenment anong conpetitors is archetypal exanple of
conduct that is illegal per se); Northern Pac. Ry. Co., 356 U S
at 5, 78 S. . at 518 (price fixing is illegal per se "wthout
el aborate inquiry as to the precise harm[it has] caused or the
busi ness excuse for [its] use."); United States v. MVWR Corp., 907
F.2d 489, 495 (5th Gr.) (Were defendants were charged with bid
rigging in violation of Sherman Act, holding that "[i]t is enough
that the governnent shows that the defendants accepted an
invitation to join in a conspiracy whose object was unlawfully
restraining trade.") (citation omtted), cert. denied, 111 S. C
1338 (1990); United States v. Flom 558 F.2d 1179, 1183 (5th G
1977) (" An agreenent that one conpany would not submt a bid
| ower than another is price fixing of the sinplest kind and is a

per se violation. . . .") (citation omtted). Thus, "[i]n cases
i nvol vi ng behavi or such as bid rigging . . . the Sherman Act

will be read as sinply saying: ~An agreenment anong conpetitors to
rig bids isillegal.""™ United States v. Koppers Co., 652 F.2d

290, 294 (2d Cr.), cert. denied, 454 U S. 1083, 102 S. C. 639
(1981), quoting United States v. Brighton Bldg. & Maint. Co., 598
F.2d 1101, 1106 (7th Cr.), cert. denied, 444 U S. 840, 100 S.

Ct. 79 (1979).
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jury accordingly, thereby rejecting the rule of reason
i nstructions proposed by defendants.?®

The governnent asserts a conspiracy anong distributors to
fix the price of specialty steel and pass that non-conpetitive
price onto end users. To dimnish the inportance of their
hori zontal agreenent to rig specialty steel bidding, defendants
enphasi ze the vertical conponent of the conspiracy--that is,
TPB' s invol venent--by proffering a hostage ("TPB nade us do it")
t heory:

The unique fact of this case is that the pipe
distributors did not, as in a conventional case, cone
together voluntarily to fix prices on products to be
sold to their custoners. Rather, directions flowed the
other way. It was the suppliers' custoner, Texas Pipe
Bending . . . , which directed its suppliers in the
schene. TPB dictated the prices in the bids it
expected to receive fromsuppliers. TPB then purchased

and took title to the goods, which were passed on to
the end users. '

o The district court's jury instructions are di scussed
and quoted infra at notes 19-20 and acconpanyi ng text.

10 Reply Brief for Appellant Mdco Pipe & Tube, Inc. at 3,
United States v. Al Star, No. 91-2439 (5th Gr. filed Dec. 12,
1991) ["Mdco Reply Brief"]. Defendants rely upon Sitkin
Snelting & Refining Co. v. FMC Corp., 575 F.2d 440 (3d Cr.),
cert. denied, 439 U S. 866 (1978), to argue that this case sinply
i nvol ves "sham bi ddi ng" orchestrated by a buyer, and, therefore,
is not a per se violation of the Sherman Act. Specifically,
defendants cite Sitkin, 575 F.2d at 447, for the proposition that
the nmere exi stence of sham bi ddi ng does not create a presunptive
violation of the Sherman Act, and United States v. Fischbach &
Moore, Inc., 750 F.2d 1184, 1196 (3d G r. 1984), cert. denied sub
nom, 470 U S 1029, 105 S. C. 1397 (1985), for the proposition
that no antitrust violation can arise if a custoner--defendants
allege that TPB, not the specialty steel end users, was their
custoner--acqui esces in the transaction or conspiracy. W find
Sitkin easily distinguishable, however, for in that case there
was no horizontal collusion anong conpeting buyers or sellers.
See Sitkin, 575 F.2d at 446-48. As the court explained, "The
price-fixing within the scope of the per se prohibition of § 1
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In sum defendants woul d have us believe that (1) they dealt only
with TPB and not with each other, (2) TPB told them what to bid
and, for the sake of staying in business, they did what they were
told, and, (3) after their deals were done, TPB went forth on its
own to cheat its custoners, the specialty pipe end users, with

inflated prices.! However, the record stages a very different

. . is an agreenent to fix the price to be charged in
transactions with third parties, not between the contracting
parties thenselves." |d. at 446 (enphasis added).

1 Specifically, MA and Brazzal e assert that:

The indictnent describes a schene whereby TPB, a

custoner of Mannesmann and ot her pipe distributors,

directed themto submt prearranged bids to it for its

use in satisfying cost-plus contracts between TPB and

its own custonmers--the "end users"--when the contracts

require conpetitive bidding. No antitrust injury

results fromthis conduct.

* * %

What the governnent has done is turn a business tort by

TPB against its custoners into a crimnal antitrust

conspi racy agai nst those custoners by parties who did

not contract with thembut only with TPB, parties who

did not tell TPB what to do with its pricing and who

had no relationship with TPB' s custoners.

Bri ef of Defendants-Appellants Mannesmann I nternational Alloys,
Inc. and Richard A Brazzale at 10, 17, United States v. Al Star
I ndustries, No. 91-2439 (5th Cr. filed Cct. 16, 1991) ["MA
Brief"].

M dco asserts that, "[b]ecause TPB' s arrangenent with its
distributors was vertical[--that is, TPB purchased specialty
pi pe as [Mdco's] custoner, fabricated it, and then resold it to
the end users who were TPB custoners--]and caused no denonstrable
econom c harm the [district] court should have submtted [their]
rule of reason instructions. At the very least, it should have
submtted the case to the jury under the alternative theories of
per se liability and rule of reason analysis."” Brief for
Appel l ant M dco Pipe & Tube at 24, United States v. Al Star
| ndustries, No 91-2439 (5th Gr. filed GCct. 11, 1991) ["Mdco
Brief"]. Mdco relies upon Business Electronics v. Sharp
El ectronics, 485 U. S. 717, 108 S. C. 1515 (1988), for the
proposition that the agreenent between specialty pipe
distributors and TPB was vertical, thereby nmaking the per se rule
i napplicable. However, we find Sharp easily distinguishable
since that case involved a wholly vertical restraint--an
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scenari o: where specialty pipe distributors, TPB, and specialty
pi pe end users were united by underlying cost-plus contracts,

di stributors who were nornmally horizontal conpetitors conspired
torig their bids with the explicit intention of inflating the
cost aspect of cost-plus contracts and deceiving specialty steel

end users.!? The conspiracy depended upon distri butor

agreenent between a manufacturer and a dealer to term nate

anot her deal er--w thout any agreenent on price or price |evels.
ld. at 735-36, 108 S. . at 1525 ("In sum econom ¢ anal ysis
supports the view, and no precedent opposes it, that a vertical
restraint is not illegal per se unless it includes sone agreenent
on price or price levels.").

12 The record establishes that defendant distributors were
fully aware of their role in the overall schenme contrived by TPB-
-that is, they knew they were rigging bids only on cost-plus
contracts that required TPB to obtain conpetitive bids and al so
requi red the end user-buyers to pay the full rigged priced for
the specialty pipe plus TPB's markup. See infra notes 13-15 and
acconpanying text. As for the involvenent of Mdco and MA in
this conspiracy, consider the foll ow ng:

-- MA' s involvenent in the conspiracy is captured by
the testinony of Lorne Van Stone, fornmer executive
Vi ce-president of MA:
Q And what did M. Brazzale explain that he and M.
Palma did to set price | evel s?
A VWll, they told nme that they would di scuss the job
and decide which itens that I|nternational
Al l oys was going to get and that we woul d
protect prices for the other conpetitors and
we woul d get our share of the order.

Q And what did you understand "protect other
conpetitors" to nean?
A To keep our prices high to protect their prices so
that they would receive the job
Q So woul d you explain to us how that would work as
a
mechani cal matter on a Mannesmann bid as you
under stand that process?
A W woul d sell many tines above our usual prices in

order to protect the prices in the

mar ket pl ace at Texas Pi pe Bendi ng. And where
we were picked to take certain itens, we
woul d be | ow on those and sonebody el se woul d
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protect our prices.
* * %

A My understanding was the three or four tines that

remenber that we got part of the jobs, not

all of the jobs, we got part of the jobs
after [M. Brazzale] would have had a neeting
wth M. Palma. That is ny understandi ng.

* * %

Q Did M. Brazzale ever explain to you how it cane

be that Mannesmann would win itens on sone of
these bids to Texas Pi pe Bendi ng where he and
M. Pal m were tal king?

* * %
A They woul d get the other distributors to raise
prices to protect ours on the itens that we
were to be given.
Q And di d Mannesmann protect the other distributors

the rest of the itens?

A Yes.
* * %
Did M. Brazzale ever tell you the nanmes of other
conpetitors whose prices Mannesnmann was
protecting?
A Yes.
Q Whose nanes did he tell you?
A US Mtals
* * %
Q Any ot her conpany?
A @l f All oys.
Q Any ot her conpany?
A Charles F. Guyon All oys.

Record on Appeal, vol. 37, at 8-55, 8-61 to 8-64, United
States v. Al Star Industries, No. 91-2439 (5th Gr.
filed Aug. 6, 1991) ["Record on Appeal "].

-- The record also contains testinony regarding Mdco's
i nvol venent from Sam Rossetti, Mdco's forner vice-
presi dent and sal es nmanager:

Q After Mdco entered into this agreenent with Al
Star and M. Palma, was there a change in

M dco's ability to make sales to the Texas

Pi pe Bendi ng Conpany?

Yes, sir, very nuch so.

And what was that change?

We had a hundred percent increase in business over
and above what we used to do before.

>0 >
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QO >O>r O

—
o

>

Q>

>0

Not to qui bble with you, but if you had one sale
before, a hundred percent increase would make
it two sales. How big an increase was it?
Astronom cal

* * %
Did Mdco pay--nake paynents to Texas Pi pe Bendi ng
during the '83-'84 period pursuant to the
vol une di scount arrangenent?
Yes, sir.

* * %

Wul d you descri be for us the substance or the

of these calls that you had with M. Pal na?
He would tell nme whether or not they were hard
dollar jobs or whether or not they were 10 or
15 percent jobs.
* * %
Were you told the anmount of the quality discount
before or after Mdco nade up its bid to
Texas Pi pe Bendi ng?
Bef ore.
Wiy were you told before?
You woul d have to know how nuch to add into the
price.
What do you nean you woul d have to know how much

add into the price?
If we were giving Texas Pipe Bending 10 or 15
percent, we would certainly have to cover it
in the price we were quoting.
Did Mdco--was there any profitability into the
M dco quotes to Texas Pipe Bending for Mdco
in addition to whatever you were putting in
for the Texas Pi pe Bendi ng Conpany?
Yes.
* * %
On the bids that Mdco submtted to the Texas Pipe
Bendi ng Conpany during the 1983-'84 peri od,
did the Mdco bids show on their face the
anmount of the discount that was included?
No.
Did the Mdco bids in '83-'84 show on their face
that All Star and M. Palnma were acting as
your sal es agent?
No.
* * %
Wul d you explain for us what that notation neans?
Wel |, Texas Pipe Bendi ng woul d be given 15 percent
of the selling price of the order. And 25
percent of the gross profit after al
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172,

expenses would be paid to Al Star

| ndustri es.
Q . . . was that a notation that went on docunents
that left the Mdco Conpany?
A No.
* * %
A [M. Palma] would tell nme to protect certain
prices
on certain bids.
* * %

Q And what did you do with the informtion when M.
Pal ma told you to protect certain bids?

A | raised the prices that we were bidding.

Record on Appeal, vol. 38, at 9-163 to 9-166, 9-168 to 9-

see al so Record on Appeal, vol. 39, at 10-31 to 10-32:
Q When Mdco put in a bid with a protect nunber, was
that a nunber that M dco chose as a
conpetitive nunber?
A No.
Q Where did M dco get that nunber to bid above?
A From M. Pal na.

-- The testinony of Robert Cohn, Mdco's forner
executive vice-president and president, further
substantiates Mdco's participation in the conspiracy:
Q What use did you nake of the information that M.
Pal ma gave you about protecting prices?
A We protected the prices by quoting a higher one
t han
was nmenti oned.
* * %
How accurate was M. Palm's information about
ich
items Mdco would get and not get?
| can never renenber thembeing in error.
* * %
Did there cone a point in tinme--did you ever |earn
whet her or not All Star was bidding on the
sane jobs as M dco?
W did. | did.

o > 20

>

* * %

Why did you continue to use All Star's services--
excuse ne, why did you continue to use M.
Palma's and All Star's services after you had
| earned those factors?

A Because M dco--and we felt that whatever business

m ght get would be nore than we woul d get
ot herw se.

-13-



cooperation and participation, and the distributors obliged:

-- Distributors knew that TPB was required to submt at
| east three conpetitive bids to its custoners for their
approval, and they took pains to nmake these bids | ook

legitimate to the end users.®®

Distributors did not allocate jobs exactly evenly

because knew t hat woul d | ook suspi cious, neaning that
the distributors nade a deliberate effort to maintain
t he appearance of conpetitive bidding. See supra note
12.

Even on contracts for itens they knew t hey woul d not

be getting because they were protecting the prices of

ot her

bi dders, the distributors would "devel op" their

prices by calling manufacturers to give themthe
i npression that distributors were preparing conpetitive
bi ds.

Record on Appeal, vol. 39, at 10-40 to 10-44.

13

This is substantiated by the testinony of Janes Dooner,

who was enpl oyed by Capitol from 1966 through 1969 and its
conpetitor, Guyon, from 1969 through 1985 as a sal es supervisor

for all

Q

>0 >

Q

sout hwestern st ates:

Now, M. Dooner, did you have sone expectation about
what percentage of the sales on rigged bids

to TPB you were going to w n?

On a specific order?

Yes.

The percentage varied. But the answer is yes
because there are sone itens we didn't

receive at all

Did you expect to get a share equal to the other

di stributors on each sal e?

A
Q

A

Q
A

Yes.
* * %
Did you always get -- if there were three bidders,
did you al ways get 33 percent of
the sales of a rigged bid?
No.
Why not ?

The percentage vari ed because bei ng an equal
percentage would look as if it was pre-done.

Record on Appeal, vol. 32, at 3-56 to 3-58.

14

This effort to make end users believe that the

distributors' bidding was conpetitive is described by the
testinony of Steve Scott, president of U S Mtals:

Q

If you could just tell the jury if you ever did
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Rat her than nerely being these distributors' custoner who then
went on to cheat its own custonmers, TPB was the distributors
conduit for passing their inflated, non-conpetitive specialty
steel bids onto unsuspecting end users. Mreover, in at |east
one instance, TPB was al so the distributors' horizontal
"conpetitor" who benefited fromthe conspiracy at their level.?1
Accordingly, we find that defendants cannot escape the per

se rule sinply because their conspiracy depended upon the

anyt hing, you personally ever did anything to
make it |look |ike you were conpeting on the
| obs where quarterbacki ng was goi ng on?

A By developing prices with all the manufacturers.

Q You devel oped prices with all the manufacturers,
that is what you are saying?

A Yes.

Q Wiy woul d -- what was the purpose of that?

A Two-fold. To have an idea of the overall val ue of
the project. And give the manufacturers that
appearance that we were devel opi ng
conpetitive prices on the whol e job.

Q Now, M. Scott, you personally worked on bids to

Texas Pi pe Bending on sales that were
quarterbacked; is that right?
A That is correct.
Q And you al so submtted bids to Texas Pipe Bending
on
sales that weren't quarterbacked; is that

right?
A That is correct.
Record on Appeal, vol. 40, at 11-126. Therefore, while the
"W nning bidder" did not sell its product directly to the end

user, it knew who its end user was and that it had successfully
deceived that end user into paying a rigged price for its
product. |d.

15 Governnment Exhibit 13a is a TPB breakdown listing
materials needed to fulfill its cost-plus contracts with a "G
"C', or "M beside the entries to indicate which conpany--Qyon,
Capitol, or MA--the work was designated to. Sone of the entries
are flagged "TPB stock protect”, neaning that TPB had the
materials in its inventory, would bid along with the
distributors, and that bidding for these materials would be
rigged so that TPB woul d wi n.
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participation of a "mddle-man", even if that m ddl eman
conceptual i zed the conspiracy, orchestrated it by bringing the
distributors together around contracts it held with its buyers,
and col |l ected nost of the booty.'®® W find, therefore, that the
district court did not err by instructing the jury in accordance
wth the per se rule and refusing defendants' rule of reason
i nstruction.
3

Def endants al so challenge the district court's jury

instruction on the grounds that the district court should have

instructed the jury on their theories of defense--that is, good

16 The governnent argues that the case before us is
anal ogous to United States v. MVR Corp., 907 F.2d 489 (5th Gr.
1990), cert. denied sub nom, 111 S. . 1388 (1991)--a case in
whi ch defendants were al so convicted of conspiracy to rig bids in
violation of the Sherman Act after the district court applied the
per se liability rule. There we considered a simlar contention:
def endants argued that, since MVWR | acked the bondi ng capacity to
successfully bid the project at issue and, therefore, could not
successfully conpete with other conspirators, MVR was not an
actual conpetitor and per se liability rules did not apply. Id.
at 496-97. We rejected that contention, holding that:

even if MMR is deened not to be an actual or potenti al

conpetitor of Fischbach and the other conpanies, the

conspi racy was not a neani ngl ess conspiracy between

nonconpetitors since [other actors] were

conpetitors. . . . [A] nonconpetitor can join a Shernman

Act bid-rigging conspiracy anong conpetitors. |If there

is a horizontal agreenent between A and B, there is no

reason why others joining that conspiracy nust be

conpetitors. . . . Second, the facts of this case
illustrate how a conpany, although arguably unable in
fact to carry out its conpetitive threat . . . can

nonet hel ess further a conspiracy anong conpetitors.
|d. at 498. Applying our MVR holding to the case at issue,
even if TPB is deened not to be an actual conpetitor, the bid-
ri ggi ng conspiracy was not a neani ngl ess conspi racy between
nonconpetitors. The distributors were horizontal conpetitors
and, at |east on one occasion, TPB bidded along wwth them See
supra note 15.
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faith and | ack of specific intent. Specifically, they argue
that, "[e]ven assum ng, hypothetically, that this case involves a
per se violation of the [SJherman [A]jct, there still nust be

evi dence that the defendant intended to commt the specific

i ntent offense charged."?’

We recogni ze that, "[w hen a defendant properly requests an
instruction on a theory of defense that is supported by sone
evidence, it is reversible error not to adequately present the
theory." United States v. Johnson, 872 F.2d 612, 622 (5th Cr.
1989) (reviewing instruction as a whole and hol di ng that
instruction on defense theory of entrapnent was adequate); see
also United States v. Schm ck, 904 F.2d 936, 943 (5th G r. 1990)
("It has long been well established in this Grcuit that it is
reversible error to refuse a charge on a defense theory for which
there is an evidentiary foundation and which, if believed by the
jury, would be legally sufficient to render the accused
i nnocent.") (citations omtted), cert. denied sub nom, 111 S
. 782 (1991). However, when considering such a jury
instruction challenge on appeal, we read the district court's
instruction as a whole to determ ne whether it accurately
reflects the law. See United States v. Daniel, 957 F.2d 162, 169
(5th Gr. 1992) (viewng jury instruction as a whole and hol di ng
that | ack of good faith instruction and inclusion of instruction
on deli berate ignorance does not constitute reversible error);

United States v. Hagmann, 950 F.2d 175, 180 (5th Gr. 1992)

17 M dco Reply Brief at 16.
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("When a charge is challenged on appeal, we evaluate it in its
entirety, looking to see whether the charge as a whol e was
correct."); United States v. Featherson, 949 F.2d 770, 777 (5th
Cr. 1991) ("The standard of review for jury instructions is
usual |y whether the court's charge, as a whole, is a correct
statenent of the law and plainly instructs the jurors as to the
principles of |law applicable to the fact issues confronting
them"), cert. denied sub nom, _ S C. _ (1992).

We have found that it was proper for the district court to
instruct the jury in accordance with the per se rule. See supra
Part 11.A 1-2. Therefore, the governnent's only burden was to

prove that the per se agreenent alleged was in fact nade and that
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defendants knowi ngly and intentionally joined that agreenent.?8

The district court instructed the jury as foll ows:

18 A price fixing conspiracy under the Sherman Act is not
a crine requiring proof of a "specific intent” to restrain trade
or to violate the aw. See American Tobacco Co. v. United
States, 328 U.S. 781, 809-10, 66 S. C. 1125, 1139 (1946) ("No
formal agreenent is necessary to constitute an unl awful
conspiracy. . . . Were the circunstances are such as to warrant
ajury in finding that the conspirators had a unity of purpose or
a common desi gn and understanding, or a neeting of mnds in an
unl awf ul arrangenent, the conclusion that a conspiracy is
established is justified."); Interstate Crcuit, Inc. v. United
States, 306 U.S. 208, 227, 59 S. C. 467, 474 (1939) ("Acceptance
by conpetitors, w thout previous agreenent, of an invitation to
participate in a plan, the necessary consequence of which, if
carried out, is restraint of interstate commerce, is sufficient
to establish unlawful conspiracy under the Sherman Act."). The
intent elenent of a per se offense is established by evidence
that the defendant agreed to engage in conduct that is per se
illegal; the governnent is not required to prove that the
def endant knew his actions were illegal or that he specifically
intended to restrain trade or to violate the law. See United
States v MR Corp., 907 F.2d 489, 495 (5th Cr. 1990), cert.
denied sub nom, 111 S. C. 1388 (1991):

The governnent . . . is not required to prove a formal
express agreenent with all the terns precisely set out
and clearly understood by the conspirators. . . . It

i s enough that the governnent shows that the defendants

accepted an invitation to join in a conspiracy whose

obj ect was unlawfully restraining trade.
See also United States v. Young Brothers, Inc., 728 F.2d 682, 687
(5th Gr.) ("In order to prove that appellant actually intended
to enter into the bidrigging conspiracy, the governnment was
required to show that appellant knowi ngly joined or participated
in the conspiracy."), cert. denied, 469 U S 881, 105 S. C. 246
(1984); United States v. Brown, 936 F.2d 1042, 1045-46 (9th Cr.
1991) (holding that district court did not err in "holding that
it was unnecessary to instruct the jury that intent to produce
anticonpetitive effects is an elenent of the offense of which
[ def endants] were convicted."); United States v. WF. Brinkley &
Sons Constr. Co., 783 F.2d 1157, 1161-62 (4th Cr. 1986) ("The
word “knowi ngly' as that term has been used fromtine to tine in
these instructions neans that the act was done voluntarily and
intentionally and not because of m stake or accident."); United
States v. Koppers Co., 652 F.2d 290, 294 (2d Gr.) ("In cases
i nvol vi ng behavi or such as bid rigging . . . the Sherman Act w |
be read as sinply saying: "~An agreenent anong conpetitors to rig
bids is illegal."") (citation omtted), cert. denied, 454 U S.
1083, 102 S. C. 639 (1981).
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To establish the required intent the Governnent
must prove beyond a reasonabl e doubt that the
def endants knowingly and willfully did sonething which
the law forbids. |In this case, that neans that the
Gover nnent nust prove beyond a reasonabl e doubt that
t he defendants knowingly and willfully fornmed, joined
or participated in a conbination or conspiracy to rig
bids. Since a conbination or conspiracy to rig bids is
unreasonable and illegal as a matter of |aw, the
Gover nnent does not have to prove that the defendants
specifically intended to unreasonably restrain trade or
t hat such conduct is an unreasonable restraint of
trade. '°

We find that, read as whole, this instruction accurately reflects
the law-that is, the district court correctly instructed the
jury that the governnent had to establish beyond a reasonabl e
doubt that (1) the bid rigging conspiracy charged in the

i ndi ctment was knowingly and willfully formed, (2) each defendant
know ngly and willfully becane a nenber of that conspiracy, and
(3) the conspiracy affected or occurred in the flow of interstate

conmer ce. 2 NMbreover, because the bid-rigging agreenent alleged

19 Record Excerpts of Defendants-Appellants at tab 30,
United States v. Al Star Industries, Inc., No. 91-2439 (5th G
filed Cct. 16, 1991) (jury instruction No. 12) ["Record
Excerpts"].

20 See Jury Instruction No. 9, in Record Excerpts at tab
30. The district court also instructed the jury as to: the
el ements of a conspiracy (Jury Instruction No. 10) ("A conspiracy
under Section | of the Sherman Act is an unl awful agreenent by
two or nore persons or corporations to acconplish a common
obj ective which would result in an unreasonable restraint of
interstate commerce."); what constitutes "know ng" and "willful"
and that "the Governnent nust prove beyond a reasonabl e doubt
that the defendants knowingly and willfully forned, joined or
participated in a conbination or conspiracy to rig bids (Jury
I nstruction Nos. 11-12); what constitutes bid rigging and the
significance of such a finding (Jury Instruction No. 13) ("In
this case, if you find beyond a reasonabl e doubt that a defendant
was a nenber of a conspiracy to rig bids as alleged in the
i ndi ctment, then you need not deci de whet her such conspiracy was
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by the governnent was per se illegal, defendants' other theories
of defense--theories incorporated in defendants' proposed
instructions which the district court rejected--were irrel evant,
and we find that the district court did not err in rejecting

t hem 2%

reasonabl e or unreasonabl e because . . . an agreenent anong
conpetitors not to conpete for contracts by submtting collusive
bids is per se unreasonable and a violation of the Shernman
Act."); that good faith is no defense (Jury Instruction No. 15:
"A conspiracy to rig bids in or affecting interstate trade and
comerce is unlawful, even though the conspiracy nmay be forned or
engaged in for what appear to the conspirators to be | audable
motives.") (Jury Instruction No. 20: ". . . the fact that a

def endant nmay have believed, in good faith, that what was being
done was not unlawful would not be a defense."). Id.

21 Def endants assert that their actions caused no economc
harm Specifically, they assert that, "if the end users were
unhappy with the bids that TPB solicited, they could reject them
Sone did. |If they were unhappy with the entire program they
coul d have negotiated for a fixed price contract. |f offended by
TPB' s all ocation, they could have proceeded agai nst TPB for
breach of contract." Mdco Brief at 13. Defendants al so assert
that, even if end users were harned, the distributors did not
benefit fromthe price-rigging arrangenent since TPB collected

all the conspiracy profits: "If a price is raised 15% and then a
15% rebate is nade, the supplier woul d make no nore profit than
i f none of that occurred M dco Reply Brief at 8. They al so

assert that their "involvenent in the alleged conspiracy . .
occurred after the end users had al ready reaped the benefits of
conpetition, the negotiated | ow percentage plus on their cost-
plus contracts. Therefore Mdco's acts were not |ikely to cause
harm not plainly anticonpetitive and not properly subject to per
se analysis." 1d. at 13.

Where there is a per se illegal price-fixing agreenent, it
is no defense that the agreenent at issue did not have
anticonpetitive effects, or that defendant's notives were
benevolent. See N.C A A v. Board of Regents of Univ. of Ckl.,
468 U.S. 85, 109-110, 104 S. Ct. 2948, 2964-65 (1984) (Hol ding
that, "when there is an agreenent not to conpete in terns of
price or output, "no elaborate industry analysis is required to
denonstrate the anticonpetitive character of such an
agreenent.'") (citation omtted); United States v. Socony-Vacuum
Ol Co., 310 U S. 150, 224 n.59, 60 S. Ct. 811, 845 n.59 (1940)
(citation omtted):

But that does not nean that both a purpose and a power
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to fix prices are necessary for the establishnment of a
conspiracy under 8 1 of the Sherman Act. That woul d be
true if power or ability to commt an offense was

necessary in order to convict a person of conspiring to

commt it. But it is well established that a person

"may be gquilty of conspiring, although incapable of

commtting the objective offense.”

See also United States v. Cargo Service Stations, Inc., 657 F.2d
676, 683-84 (5th Cr. 1981), cert. denied, 455 U S. 1017, 102 S.
. 1712 (1982) (defendants need only knowi ngly and intentionally
join conspiracy to rig bids) (per se rule condemms conspiracies
never inplenmented, as well as those that fail to achieve their

obj ectives and produce no anticonpetitive effects); id. at 683
("We think it follows that if price fixing is inevitably an
unreasonably restraint of trade, the intent to fix prices is

equi valent to the intent to unreasonably restrain trade.").

Moreover, there is evidence in the record that distributors
ended up charging end users prices inflated 10 to 15 percent
above conpetitive prices. Record on Appeal, vol. 37, at 8-34
(testinmony of Bruce Painchaud, an M A enpl oyee from 1978 t hrough
1987). Al though, as pointed out by defendants, the bidding
arrangenent between end users and TPB all owed the end users to
reject the distributors' bids, we cannot fault the end users for
accepting them The end users took precautions to insure that
the specialty steel bids incorporated into TPB contracts were
conpetitive by requiring TPB to provide at |east three bids--
precautions which were overcone by conspiracy.

And finally, although TPB may have reaped nost of the
rewards fromthis markup, the distributors still benefited from
the bid-rigging arrangenent in that their participation
guaranteed them a share of the contracts:

-- Consider the testinony of Robert Cohn, executive
vi ce- president and then president of Mdco during the
years 1981-1984:
Q Why did you protect those prices as requested by
M .
Pal ma?
A Because M. Pal na was our agent and he was on the
scene and we assuned he knew what he was
doing and we followed his instructions.
* * %
Q Why did protecting another conpetitor's price help
M dco get business with Texas Pipe?
A Vll, | don't believe that every order would go to
one single conpany because we, M dco coul dn't
get every piece of business. And soneone
el se
m ght have had a better inventory of a
comodity or a better price.
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B
As a condition of probation, the district court ordered the
corporate defendants jointly and severally liable for restitution
to the victims of their conspiracy in the anbunt of $859, 935. 22

M A now asserts that the district court abused its discretion by:

Record on Appeal, vol. 39, 10-41.

-- Rossetti's testinony further substantiates that the
distributors benefited fromthe conspiracy arrangenent:
Q Wiy did M dco put down protected nunbers on sone

of

its bids to Texas Pi pe Bendi ng Conpany?
A Vell, we were told to, and the only way we woul d
get

busi ness was by participating on this basis.

* * %

Q How did you know this was the only way you woul d
get

busi ness?
A Because this was the way it was happeni ng and we

were getting it on that basis.
Record on Appeal, vol. 38, at 9-171 to 9-172; id. at 9-
163 (quoted nore extensively supra note 12):
After Mdco entered into this agreenent with Al
Star and M. Palma, was there a change in
Mdco's ability to make sales to the Texas
Pi pe Bendi ng Co?
* * %
Q Not to qui bble with you, but if you had one sale
before, a hundred percent increase would make
it two sales. How big an increase was it?
A Astronom cal

22 The district court ordered this restitution pursuant to
section 3651 of the Probation Act. 18 U . S.C. § 3651 (1985).
While this section has been repeal ed, the Probation Act which
predated the Sentencing Reform Act still applies to offenses
commtted before Novenber 1, 1987. See United States v. Bal boa,
893 F.2d 703, 706 (5th Cr. 1990) (holding that, although
probation statute was repeal ed by Sentencing Reform Act, old
provi sion continued to apply to offenses which occurred before
effective date of Act, Nov. 1, 1987).
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(1) ordering restitution that covers injuries occurring

outside the limtations period for antitrust

vi ol ati ons,

(2) failing to credit Mannesmann for paynents nade to

settle civil clains involving the sanme conduct and

parties, and

(3) making restitution a joint and several obligation

agai nst Mannesmann si nce Mannesmann was not involved in

several projects for which restitution was awarded.

1

M A raises an assertion before this court that it did not
rai se bel ow-that, because the statute of |limtations for
antitrust violations is five years, MA cannot be nade to pay
restitution for |osses occurring nore than five years before the
return of the indictnent. Because this contention was not raised
below, we review it only for plain error--that is, we |ook to see
whet her "our failure to consider the question results in
"mani fest injustice.'" United States v. Gerald Vonsteen, 950
F.2d 1086, 1092 (5th 1992) (citation omtted); see United States
v. Sherbak, 950 F.2d 1095, 1101 (5th G r. 1992) ("[l]ssues raised
for the first time on appeal "are not reviewable by this [c]ourt
unl ess they involve purely I egal questions and failure to

consider themwould result in manifest injustice.") (citations

omtted).?

23 See also United States v. Canpbell, 942 F.2d 890, 894
n.2 (5th Gr. 1991) ("Because Canpbell raises this claimfor the
first tinme on appeal, the issue is deened waived."); United
States v. Jackson, 700 F.2d 181, 190 (5th Gr.), cert. denied,
464 U.S. 842, 104 S. C. 139 (1983) ("We have long held that,
absent a show ng of manifest injustice, a litigant may not raise
a theory on appeal that was not presented to the district
court.").
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A Sherman Act conspiracy is a partnership in crine that
continues until all its objectives have been acconplished or
abandoned. See United States v. Kissel, 218 U S. 601, 607-08, 31
S. O 124, 126 (1910) ("A conspiracy to restrain or nonopolize
trade by inproperly excluding a conpetitor from business
contenpl ates that the conspirators will remain in business, and
W Il continue their conbined efforts to drive the conpetitor out
until they succeed.") ("A conspiracy is a partnership in crimnal
purposes . . . . [and] an overt act of one partner may be the act
of all w thout any new agreenent specifically directed to that
act."). MA was convicted of participating in a single
conti nui ng conspiracy that began nore than five years before the
i ndi ctment was returned, but which did not end until 1984--a tine
wthin the five-year period of limtations. Under the Probation
Act,? the only limts on restitution are that repaynent nust
relate (i) to the particular offense of which the defendant was
convicted and (ii) to the actual |osses suffered by the victim
See United States v. Boswell, 565 F.2d 1338, 1343 (5th Cr.) ("As
a condition of probation a district court undoubtedly has the
authority to require that a defendant nake restitution to injured
parties for the actual |oss or damage caused by the offense for
whi ch he stands convicted . . . .") (citations omtted) (enphasis
inoriginal), cert. denied, 439 U S. 819, 99 S. C. 81 (1978);
see also United States v. Stuver, 845 F.2d 73, 76 (4th Cr. 1988)

(hol ding that precise anmount of loss for restitution purposes

24 See supra note 22.
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must be legally determned in the underlying crimnal
proceedi ng); United States v. Johnson, 700 F.2d 699, 701 (11th
Cr. 1983) ("The amobunt of restitution cannot exceed the actual
| osses flowng fromthe offense for which the defendant had been
convicted."). The restitution order in this case did not exceed
t hose bounds and, therefore, does not constitute "manifest
i njustice."

2

M A also clains that the restitution order should be reduced
by the anmount of noney MA paid to settle a civil class action
suit alleging "the sanme form of conspiracy for which Mannesnmann
was convicted in this case."? W disagree.

While a court may offset restitution in a crimnal case by
the anobunt of a civil settlenent to avoid double recovery by
victins, the availability of such an offset

depends upon what paynent was nmade in the settlenent,

whet her the clainms settled involved the sane acts of

the defendants as those that are predicates of their

crim nal convictions, and whether the paynent satisfies

the penal purposes the district court sought to inpose.
United States v. Rico Industries, Inc., 854 F.2d 710, 715 (5th
Cr. 1988), cert. denied, 489 U S. 1078, 109 S. C. 1529 (1989).
In the civil case, plaintiffs alleged a 20-year price fixing
conspiracy beginning in 1966, that affected hundreds of projects,

fabricators, engineering conpanies, and end users.? The

crimnal case at issue concerns a four-year bid rigging

2 MA Brief at 28.
26 Record Excerpts at tab 33.
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conspiracy involving sales nmade through a single fabricator, TPB.
Only two of the 28 defendants naned in the civil suit--MA and
Guyon--were involved in the crimnal conspiracy. Mbst
inportantly, in settling its civil case, MA paid a total of
$814,000 to a significantly broader class of victins for a
significantly broader nunber of projects, and M A has offered no
accounting to show how the victins of its crimnal conspiracy
received restitution through that civil conspiracy settlenent.?
Accordingly, we find no reason to dimnish the anount of the
district court's restitution order.
3

Finally, MA asserts that, since its involvenent in the
conspiracy was limted, the district court's award of joint
restitution is patently unfair to MA  Specifically, MA argues
t hat :

[I]f MA were a major player in the conspiracy, it

woul d have been involved in a | arger share of the

nunmber of allegedly rigged inquiries. The governnent

i ntroduced evidence of bids on 72 different projects.

M A submtted a total of eleven (11) bids on all of the

projects. The 72 projects ultimately becane jobs. The

evidence at trial indicated that MA participated in

only eight total jobs. . . . In short, the governnent

attenpts to place responsibility on MA's shoul der's

for a volune of commerce that exceeded $5,000,000. The
projects for which MA allegedly sold pipe had a tota

21 MA' s civil settlement does not limt MA s paynents to
victins injured by bid rigging in this crimnal case; rather,
that settlenent extends to all purchasers of specialty steel
pi ping material in the United States who purchased under cost-
pl us contracts between 1966 and 1985 from nunerous fabricators in
addition to TPB. Record Excerpts at tab 34, pp. 3-4;, MA Brief at
28.
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of just $1,842,693 in volunme of comrerce allegedly
af fected by the conspiracy. ?®

M A's assertion is based on the claimthat, while it is
financially able to pay and the other defendants are not, the
ot her defendants' culpability is denonstratably greater.

The governnent charged, and the jury found, that defendants
engaged in a single, continuing conspiracy to rig bids on certain
cost-plus contracts between 1981 and 1984. It is well-
established that, as a participant in this conspiracy, MA is
legally liable for all the acts of its coconspirators in
furtherance of this crinme. See United States v. Kissel, 218 U. S.
601, 608, 31 S. C. 124, 126 (1910) ("[T]he conspiracy continues
up to the tinme of abandonnent or success.") ("A conspiracy is a
partnership in crimnal purposes . . . [and] an overt act of one
partner may be the act of all w thout any new agreenent
specifically directed to that act."); see also Hyde v. United
States, 225 U S. 347, 369, 32 S. . 793, 803 (1912) (the
liability of an individual conspirator continues until the
conspi racy acconplishes its goals or that conspirator wthdraws,
the latter of which requires an affirmative action).

Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its discretion in
holding MA jointly and severally liable for all |osses to the
victins of the four-year conspiracy proved at trial. See United

States v. Haile, 795 F.2d 489, 491 (5th Cr. 1986) (Section 3651

28 M A Reply Brief of Defendants-Appellants Mannesnan
International Alloys, Inc. and Richard A Brazzale at 10, United
States v. Al Star Industries, Inc., No. 91-2439 (5th Gr. filed
Dec. 13, 1991) (citations and footnotes omtted).
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of the Probation Act "gives broad authority to district courts to
i npose conditions of probation that in the judgnment of the
sentenci ng judge serve to rehabilitate the crimnal or secure
conpliance with court orders, and otherwi se are in the public
interest.") (holding, however, that Probation Act precludes
monetary penalties other than those enunerated in the statute);
United States v. Van Cauwenberghe, 827 F.2d 424, 435 (9th G
1987) (holding that joint and several liability for entire actual
| oss coul d have been inposed on each fraud defendant as condition
of probation), cert. denied, 484 U S. 1042, 108 S. C. 773
(1988); United States v. Tzakis, 736 F.2d 867, 871 (2d Cr. 1984)
(holding that district court did not abuse its discretion by
i nposi ng on defendant, as condition of probation, joint and
several liability wth codefendant for restitution of full anount
of | osses caused by their crine); see also United States v. Hand,
863 F.2d 1100, 1106 (3d GCr. 1988) (Holding that, in ordering
restitution under the Victim& Wtness Protection Act, the fact
that burden of restitution lay entirely on one defendant where
two codefendants were equal ly cul pable did not offend
Constitution and "certainly . . . did not constitute an abuse of
di scretion.").

11

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFI RM
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